
AGENDA
Joint Town / County Special Meeting

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Meeting Location: Mono Lake Room, 1st Fl., County Civic Center, 1290 Tavern Rd., Mammoth Lakes, CA 93546

Special Meeting
October 17, 2023

TELECONFERENCE INFORMATION
This meeting will be held in person at the location listed above.  Additionally, a teleconference location will be
available where the public and members of the Board may participate by electronic means.

1. Bridgeport Teleconference Location – Mono County Courthouse, Second Floor Board Chambers, 278 Main
Street, Bridgeport, CA. 93517;
2. Zoom Webinar.

Members of the public may participate via the Zoom Webinar, including listening to the meeting and providing
public comment, by following the instructions below.

To join the meeting by computer:
Visit https://monocounty.zoom.us/j/85848995451 or visit https://www.zoom.us/, click on "Join A Meeting" and
enter the Zoom Webinar ID 858 4899 5451.
To provide public comment, press the “Raise Hand” button on your screen.

To join the meeting by telephone:
Dial (669) 900-6833, then enter Zoom Webinar 858 4899 5451
To provide public comment, press *9 to raise your hand and *6 to mute/unmute.

If you are unable to join the Zoom Webinar of the Board meeting, you may still view the live stream of the meeting
by visiting:
https://monocounty.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?publish_id=1538a8aa-4d0f-41ba-9104-74d353cd0f60

NOTE: In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this
meeting, please contact the Clerk of the Board at (760) 932-5530 or bos@mono.ca.gov. Notification 48 hours
prior to the meeting will enable the County to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this
meeting (See 42 USCS 12132, 28CFR 35.130).
Full agenda packets are available for the public to review in the Office of the Clerk of the Board (Annex I - 74
North School Street, Bridgeport, CA 93517) and online at http://monocounty.ca.gov/bos. Any writing distributed
less than 72 hours prior to the meeting will be available for public inspection in the Office of the Clerk of the Board
and online.

UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED BY TIME, ITEMS SCHEDULED FOR EITHER THE MORNING OR
AFTERNOON SESSIONS WILL BE HEARD ACCORDING TO AVAILABLE TIME AND PRESENCE OF
INTERESTED PERSONS. PUBLIC MAY COMMENT ON AGENDA ITEMS AT THE TIME THE ITEM IS
HEARD.



4:00 PM Call meeting to Order

Pledge of Allegiance

1. OPPORTUNITY FOR THE PUBLIC TO ADDRESS THE BOARD

Opportunity for the public to address the Board on items of public interest that are
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board. (Speakers may be limited in
speaking time dependent upon the press of business and number of persons
wishing to address the Board.) Please refer to the Teleconference Information
section to determine how to make public comment for this meeting via Zoom.

2. AGENDA ITEMS

A. Update from Mono County and Town of Mammoth Lakes Staff Regarding
Housing Programs and Projects
30 minutes

(Sandra Moberly, County Administrative Officer; Dan Holler, Town Manager) - Mono
County and Town of Mammoth Lakes staff will provide an update on the
current/anticipated housing programs and potential funding sources.

Recommended Action: Receive presentation and ask questions as needed.

Fiscal Impact: None.
B. Update on the Eastern Sierra Climate and Communities Resilience Project

(ESCCRP) (Mammoth Donut)
20 minutes

(Sandra Moberly, County Administrative Officer; Dan Holler, Town Manager) - The
Eastern Sierra Climate and Communities Resilience Project (ESCCRP) is a
56,000-acre collaborative forest restoration project located on the Inyo National
Forest in the Eastern Sierra, generally surrounding Town of Mammoth Lakes. The
project is expected to take place over the next several years and will require many
different funding sources to ensure completion.

Recommended Action: Receive presentation and ask questions as needed.

Fiscal Impact: None.
C. Update from Mono County and Town of Mammoth Lakes Staff Regarding

Potential Housing Funding Sources
20 minutes

(Sandra Moberly, County Administrative Officer; Dan Holler, Town Manager) - Mono
County and Mammoth Lakes Town staff will provide an update on the various



funding sources for housing projects and programs. 

Recommended Action: Receive presentation and provide comments as needed. 

Fiscal Impact: None. 
D. Update from Mono County and Town of Mammoth Lakes Staff Regarding

After Action Reports
30 minutes

(Sandra Moberly, County Administrative Officer; Dan Holler, Town Manager) -
Opportunity for County and Town staff to provide an update on the after action
reports related to the 2023 Snow Emergency. 

Recommended Action: Receive presentations and ask questions as needed. 

Fiscal Impact: None.

ADJOURN



 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

 MEETING DATE October 17, 2023 DEPARTMENT
ADDITIONAL
DEPARTMENTS
TIME REQUIRED 30 minutes PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Sandra Moberly, County
Administrative Officer; Dan Holler,
Town ManagerSUBJECT Update from Mono County and Town

of Mammoth Lakes Staff Regarding
Housing Programs and Projects

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Mono County and Town of Mammoth Lakes staff will provide an update on the current/anticipated housing programs and
potential funding sources. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Receive presentation and ask questions as needed. 

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

CONTACT NAME: Sandra Moberly

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-932-5415 / smoberly@mono.ca.gov

SUBMIT THE ORIGINAL DOCUMENT WITH 
ATTACHMENTS TO THE OFFICE OF 

THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
PRIOR TO 5:00 P.M. ON THE FRIDAY 

32 DAYS PRECEDING THE BOARD MEETING

SEND COPIES TO:  

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Staff Report_Mono County

 Staff Report_TOML

 TOML Housing Program Summary

 

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=30530&ItemID=16281

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=30525&ItemID=16281

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=30526&ItemID=16281


 History

 Time Who Approval
 10/12/2023 8:58 PM County Counsel Yes

 10/13/2023 8:38 AM Finance Yes

 10/13/2023 9:30 AM County Administrative Office Yes

 



BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

CHAIR 
Rhonda Duggan / District 2 

VICE CHAIR 
John Peters / District 4 

Bob Gardner / District 3    
Lynda Salcido / District 5 
Jennifer Kreitz / District 1 
 

COUNTY DEPARTMENTS 

ASSESSOR 
Hon. Barry Beck 

DISTRICT ATTORNEY 
Hon. David Anderson 

SHERIFF / CORONER 
Hon. Ingrid Braun 

ANIMAL SERVICES 
Chris Mokracek “Interim” 

BEHAVIORAL HEALTH 
Robin Roberts 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
Wendy Sugimura 

COUNTY CLERK-RECORDER 
Queenie Barnard 

COUNTY COUNSEL 
Stacey Simon, Esq. 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
Jeff Simpson 

EMERGENCY MEDICAL 
SERVICES 
Bryan Bullock 

FINANCE 
Janet Dutcher 
CPA, CGFM, MPA 

HEALTH AND HUMAN 
SERVICES 

Kathryn Peterson 

INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGY 
Mike Martinez 

PROBATION 
Karin Humiston 

PUBLIC WORKS 
Paul Roten 

 

 

COUNTY ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 
COUNTY OF MONO 

Sandra Moberly, MPA, AICP 
PO Box 696 

Bridgeport, CA 93517-0696 
(760) 932-5410 

smoberly@mono.ca.gov 
www.mono.ca.gov 

 
 

 To: Mono County Board of Supervisors and Mammoth Lakes Town Council 

From: Sandra Moberly, Mono County Administrative Officer 

Date: October 17, 2023 

Re:  Mono County Housing Update  

Strategic Plan Focus Area(s) Met 

 A Thriving Economy     Safe and Healthy Communities    Mandated Function 

 Sustainable Public Lands      Workforce & Operational Excellence 

Discussion 

Over the past several years Mono County has taken a multi-pronged approach to solving 
the housing crisis in the County. This has included partnering with the Town of 
Mammoth Lakes on projects within the Town, considering acquisitions of property 
within unincorporated Mono County, and developing programs to encourage/fund 
housing development. Some significant actions include: 

- Worked jointly with the Town of Mammoth Lakes to provide $2.3M in funding to 
The Parcel project.  

- Provided $550K in funding to the Innsbruck Lodge HomeKey Project. 
- Worked in partnership with the Town of Mammoth Lakes to develop prescribed 

designs for Accessory Dwelling Units. We continue to publicize their availability through 
our media outlets.  

- Produced affordable unit at Birch Creek Condos in June Lake and recently 
facilitated transfer of that unit to Mammoth Lakes Housing. 

- Acquired and rehabilitated two single-family housing units in Benton from 
CalTrans and sold the units to the Benton Tribe for tribal housing. 

- Sold County-owned property on Davison Street in Mammoth Lakes subject to a 
deed restriction requiring the establishment of four affordable units.  

- Currently evaluating the purchase and/or development of property in June Lake. 
- Removed two properties from the tax default sale to allow staff to evaluate and 

consider purchasing under Section 8 (in Walker and Chalfant). 
- Considering the purchase of two properties in Bridgeport for housing. 
- Working to finalize a mortgage assistance program that would be available for 

purchases for families in which at least one wage earner is working in Mono County. 
- The County has set aside $2M in General Fund dollars to support the provision of 

additional housing in the community.  



Page 2 of 2 
October 17, 2023 

- Establishment and maintenance of a revolving loan fund to allow for the purchase and preservation of 
deed-restricted housing within the County.  

- Adopted moratoriums for single-family transient rental (expiring in April 2024) and multi-family 
transient rental (Board will consider extension next month) to prevent existing long-term housing from 
being converted to transient rental. As a part of this process, the Board has approved a contract to study 
the impacts of short-term rentals on the housing situation in Mono County.  

 
The Board continues to explore options to secure additional housing in Mono County.  
 

https://agenda.mono.ca.gov/agendapublic/CoverSheet.aspx?ItemID=16243&MeetingID=922
https://agenda.mono.ca.gov/agendapublic/CoverSheet.aspx?ItemID=16243&MeetingID=922


JOINT MEETING 

TOWN COUNCIL AND MONO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

STAFF REPORT 

 

 

1 

 

Meeting Date: October 17, 2023 

 

To: Town Council and Mono County Board of Supervisors 

 

From: Daniel C. Holler, Town Manager 

 

RE: Overview of Town Housing Programs 

 

Workforce Housing Shortage 

The Town has been experiencing a shortage of affordable housing for our workforce for a 

number of years. In 2017, the Town completed a Workforce Housing Needs Assessment which 

estimated a need for 595 additional workforce housing units between 2017-2022 (5 affordable 

units converted from existing market rate units and 221 new market rate units have been 

provided since that time). While affordable housing production over the past five years has 

been slow, the Town has a number of upcoming projects that are anticipated to generate 256 

units over the next 2-3 years. Information on the programs under the Town’s Housing Now! 

initiative is attached. The program includes:  

 

Ø  Parcel Phase 1 – 81 units (80 affordable, 1 manager unit – under construction) 

Ø  Parcel Phase 2 – 148 units (146 affordable, 2 manager units – construction is pending 

funding) 

Ø  Innsbruck Lodge HomeKey Project (15 affordable, 1 manager unit – remodel underway) 

Ø  60 Joaquin (4 for-sale affordable units – under construction) 

Ø  Access Apartments (11 affordable units – Project is not fully funded) 

Ø  6 Market rate units have been purchased under the Bridge Program 

Ø  The Town has acquired a small parcel and will be looking at adding 4-6 new units. 

 

This list does not include units provided by private entities that are not deed restricted like the 

recent purchase of the Sierra Lodge by Mammoth Mountain Ski Area (36 units that will house 

up to 72 employees) or the Mammoth Hospital’s recent purchase of 20 apartments to use for 

their employees. The Town also purchased 5 employee housing units over the past few years, 

for a total of 7 units. Under the Town’s “Bridge Program,” 6 market rate units have been 

purchased and all but one have been sold to households with incomes less than the 150% AMI 

level. The program requires a subsidy of approximately $110,000 to $150,000 per unit. Recent 

interest rate increases also make it difficult for households in these “missing middle” income 

ranges to purchase units.  

 

The Town has initiated discussions on Phase 3 of The Parcel to provide a higher income home 

ownership component. This tentatively would include 49 for-sale units within 10 buildings, with 

2- and 3-bedroom townhome units. This type of housing was included in the Parcel Master Plan 

to assist in meeting housing for the “missing middle” income households. The financial 



2 

 

challenge continues to be significant with a per-unit subsidy estimated in the $200,000 per unit 

range.  

 

A snapshot of housing sales data from 2017 - 2022 for one- and two-bedroom condo units in 

the RMF-2 zoning district show continued strong price increases for similar numbers of sales 

activity. The number of new units constructed was also limited during this time period, with 

only 16 new units constructed in the RMF-2 zone. The number of units in this zoning district is 

3,642, with 1,898 (or 52%) having a short-term rental tax certificate. This zoning district is 

highlighted as it represents the location for likely affordable workforce housing opportunities.  

 

The median sales price of these units has moved out of the price range for moderate income 

households to purchase. The attached information demonstrates what a three-person 

household could afford to pay for a 2-bedroom condo based on a consistent set of assumptions 

(i.e., annual income at 120%, 150%, and 200% of AMI, 10% downpayment, $400 HOA, property 

tax at 1.5% of purchase price, property insurance at 0.35% of purchase price, PMI at 1% of 

purchase price, and current average interest rate for that year with 35% of income being 

committed to housing costs. The analysis provides some base data that suggests the transition 

of existing housing stock to meet workforce housing needs is currently unaffordable for home 

ownership. As demonstrated below, the point when a household at the various AMI levels 

could no longer afford the median priced 2-bedroom condo in the RMF-2 zone is as follows: 

 

120% AMI: Mid-2016 

150% AMI: 2020 

200% AMI: 2021 

 

 

 $-

 $100,000

 $200,000

 $300,000

 $400,000

 $500,000

 $600,000

 $700,000

 $800,000

 $900,000

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

2-BR MEDIAN CONDO SALES (RMF-2 ZONE) VS AFFORDABLE 

PRICE FOR VARIOUS AMIs

2-BR Median (RMF-2)

 3P HH

(120% AMI)

 3P HH

(150% AMI)

 3P HH

(200% AMI)



3 

 

The chart in the attached presentation shows the income limits for Mono County and our local 

limits calculated at the 150% and 200% AMI level using the State assigned Area Median Income 

as the starting point. 

 

Ongoing Funding Commitments 

Both the Town and County have funded priority housing projects out of current revenues. This 

is the incremental approach that both agencies have pursued along with actively seeking grants 

and partnering with Eastern Sierra Community Housing (MLH) on projects as noted above. Since 

FY17-18, the Town has committed or expended over $30 million on housing initiatives. This 

investment was the catalyst for the projects and programs incorporated int the Town’s Housing 

Now! initiative. The presentation on this initiative demonstrates the breath of programs 

undertaken and the housing impact that was achieved and that is on the horizon. The Town is 

continuing to make investments in our Housing Now! initiative programs as well as substantial 

investment in capital infrastructure and other needed community programs such as childcare 

($14M). As with the County the Town has invested in direct community support due to 

emergencies other as well ($6.5M). The Town and County have jointly supported local housing 

projects as well (i.e., Innsbruck Lodge conversion and the proactive purchase units to preserve 

deed restrictions).  

 

Dynamic Challenges in Funding Housing Programs 

The subsidy levels required to provide workforce housing are increasing due to higher interest 

rates, construction costs and economic changes that have limited the number of full-time rental 

units. The needs in the community are significant and the challenges are varied with dynamic 

changes in the workforce and new options being pursued for lower cost living alternatives.  

 

The high cost of construction and significant competition for grants and other traditional 

funding sources for affordable housing has hampered local projects. The fact that the state and 

federal funding sources are targeted to meet housing needs of low-income households also 

limits our ability to diversify housing types for the workforce. The need to provide housing for 

what we have termed the “missing middle” continues to be a significant challenge as many of in 

our workforce do not qualify for low-income housing and yet do not have incomes that support 

the purchase of homes in the area. The rental market also has limited available units, with rents 

often higher than what the local workforce can reasonably afford. Both the Town and County, 

along with other governmental and private businesses, have experienced the struggle of hiring 

employees due to the lack of suitable housing.  

 

The lack of affordable workforce housing is also driving other policy questions as people make 

alternative living choices. This is highlighted by what is referred to as “van life”. Workers are 

making a choice or have no alternative but to live in their vehicles. This may include vehicles 

designed to serve as a living space or simply the use of a regular vehicle. This has sparked 

discussions over the use of recreational vehicles (RVs, campers, motor homes etc.) as long-term 

places to live as well as requests to create safe and legal parking areas for “van life” housing. 

Meeting these needs has created a new set of challenges across numerous communities. This 



4 

 

includes enforcement of vehicles illegally parked, violations of zoning standards, safety 

concerns, sanitation, and protection from the elements (extreme cold or heat).  

 

Meeting this new housing alternative (by choice or circumstance) needs to be addressed in a 

coordinated manner that will benefit the Town, County, and local businesses. Options are 

limited and will require creative solutions, including potential changes to current codes. 

 

The Town and County have taken a number of steps to modify housing regulations to 

encourage the construction Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) and implemented a number State 

mandated changes related to housing project approvals and other requirements. Additional 

State mandates continue to move through the legislative process.  

 

Conclusion 

The Town and the County have and are taking steps to create additional affordable workforce 

housing for our community. The actions taken are making and will continue to make a 

difference in the community. The challenges to provide an expanded diversity of housing 

opportunities are significant. The primary sources of state and federal funding are for low-

income households. As the Town experienced with The Parcel development, even low-income 

projects require subsidies to be competitive to secure required funding. Addressing the 

“missing middle” income households has generally fallen to local agencies to fund or address 

through the regulatory process. Within our region, the availability of land and infrastructure is 

limited. The lack of long-term dedicated funding to support housing that does not diminish 

other services and programs will require creative solutions.  

 

 



1

Town of Mammoth Lakes
Housing Program Highlights

October 17, 2023



Area Median Income (AMI)
(Mono County)

2

https://www.townofmammothlakes.ca.gov/DocumentCenter/View/11723INCOME LIMITS

Household Size

87654321

$18,950$17,800$16,650$15,500$14,350$12,900$11,500$10,050Acutely‐Low (≤ 15% AMI)

$50,560$45,420$40,280$35,140$30,000$24,860$20,400$17,850Extremely‐Low (16% ‐ 30% AMI)

$56,100$52,700$49,300$45,900$42,500$38,250$34,000$29,750Very‐Low (31% ‐ 50% AMI)

$89,800$84,350$78,900$73,450$68,000$61,200$54,400$47,600Low (51% ‐ 80% AMI)

$126,450$118,800$111,150$103,450$95,800$76,200$76,650$67,050Median (81% ‐ 100% AMI)

$151,750$142,550$133,350$124,150$114,950$103,450$91,950$80,450Moderate (101% ‐ 120% AMI)

$189,700$178,200$166,700$155,200$143,700$129,350$114,950$100,600121% ‐ 150% AMI

$252,900$237,600$222,250$206,950$191,600$172,450$153,300$134,100151% ‐ 200% AMI

AMI is the household
income for the median – or
the middle – household in
a region (Mono County).
The income data is updated
annually by the US
Department of Urban
Development (HUD) and
the CA Department of
Housing and Community
Development (HCD).

Based on CA Income Limits
Federal Median Income is $95,800



Up to 450 affordable housing units
25 Acres
Target Income Level: ≤ 80% AMI (The Master Plan allows for 
income limits up to 120% AMI and allows for up to 15% of the 
total units within the development to be available to households 
earning 120‐200% AMI.)

Phase 1
81 rental units under construction (80 affordable units + 1 
manager’s unit)
Studio, 1, 2, and 3‐bedroom units
Occupancy Winter 2023
Public Park + Childcare Facility (34 children)

Phase 2
148 rental units (1‐2 manager’s units) 
2 Development Phases (2.A and 2.B)
Studio, 1, 2, and 3‐bedroom units
Grading is anticipated to begin Fall 2023 (tentative)

Phase 3 (tentative)
49 for‐sale ownership units within 10 buildings
2 Development Phases (3.A and 3.B)
2 and 3‐bedroom townhome units

The Parcel

3

Low Income Household
(≤ 80% AMI)

$47,6001‐Person HH

$54,5002‐Person HH

$61,2003‐Person HH

$68,0004‐Person HH

$73,4505‐Person HH



60 Joaquin Road (0.20‐acre site)
4‐unit Design‐Build Project 
Ownership units
$2.4M Bid Award (Site Acquisition: $200K)
Target Income Level: 150% AMI
Construction began Summer 2023

Small Site Development

4

Above‐Moderate Household
(≤ 150% AMI)

$100,6001‐Person HH

$114,9502‐Person HH

$129,3503‐Person HH

$143,7004‐Person HH

$155,2005‐Person HH

Future Sites
Replicable model
1 site acquired 
and looking for 
other infill sites



Partnership Projects (MLH + Town)

5

• Access Apartments 
(238 Sierra Manor Road)
• (11) 1‐br apartments
• Targeting 80% AMI Households
• HOME, CDBG, and Town funds committed to the project

• Homekey Project – Innsbruck 
Lodge (913 Forest Trail)
• Convert hotel to residential 

use (15 affordable units + 1 
manager’s unit)

• Targeting those who are 
homeless and at‐risk of 
becoming homeless

• Occupancy Winter 2023

Low Income Household
(≤ 80% AMI)

$47,6001‐Person HH

$54,5002‐Person HH

$61,2003‐Person HH

$68,0004‐Person HH

$73,4505‐Person HH



Bridge Program

6

• Convert Market‐Rate Unit 
Deed Restricted Affordable 
Unit

• Deed restriction runs for 55 
years and renews upon 
each sale

• Target Income Level: 
120% ‐ 150% AMI 

• Town Subsidy of $100K ‐
$150K / unit

• 6 units acquired (Range of 
Studio – 4‐br units)
• (5) have been sold to 
eligible households  
• (1) unit to be listed for‐
sale soon

Moderate Household
(≤ 120% AMI)

$80,4501‐Person HH

$91,9502‐Person HH

$103,4503‐Person HH

$114,9504‐Person HH

$124,1505‐Person HH

2021 ‐ 2022



 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

 MEETING DATE October 17, 2023 DEPARTMENT
ADDITIONAL
DEPARTMENTS
TIME REQUIRED 20 minutes PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Sandra Moberly, County
Administrative Officer; Dan Holler,
Town ManagerSUBJECT Update on the Eastern Sierra Climate

and Communities Resilience Project
(ESCCRP) (Mammoth Donut)

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

The Eastern Sierra Climate and Communities Resilience Project (ESCCRP) is a 56,000-acre collaborative forest restoration
project located on the Inyo National Forest in the Eastern Sierra, generally surrounding Town of Mammoth Lakes. The
project is expected to take place over the next several years and will require many different funding sources to ensure

completion. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Receive presentation and ask questions as needed. 

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

CONTACT NAME: Sandra Moberly

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-932-5415 / smoberly@mono.ca.gov

SUBMIT THE ORIGINAL DOCUMENT WITH 
ATTACHMENTS TO THE OFFICE OF 

THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
PRIOR TO 5:00 P.M. ON THE FRIDAY 

32 DAYS PRECEDING THE BOARD MEETING

SEND COPIES TO:  

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Staff Report

 ESCCRP Program Background

 

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=30533&ItemID=16282

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=30529&ItemID=16282


 History

 Time Who Approval
 10/12/2023 6:24 PM County Counsel Yes

 10/13/2023 8:39 AM Finance Yes

 10/13/2023 9:32 AM County Administrative Office Yes

 



JOINT MEETING 

TOWN COUNCIL AND MONO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

STAFF REPORT 

 

 

1 

 

Meeting Date:  October 17, 2023 

 

To: Town Council and Mono County Board of Supervisors 

 

From: Daniel C. Holler, Town Manager 

 

RE: Overview of Wildfire Mitigation Programs 

 

Fuels Reduction Projects – ESCCRP  

The Eastern Sierra Climate Communities Resilience Project (ESCCRP) is targeting the ecological 

restoration of 58,000 acres of land primarily within the Inyo National Forest. Project is being led 

by the Whitebark Institute, who has secured grant funding for environmental work and to treat 

a few smaller areas, with some work completed or in progess. The overall scope of this project 

will take several years and cost millions of dollars to fully fund the fuels reduction work and 

restoration efforts. Funding for this effort will require support from a variety of sources 

including local governmental agencies.  

 

The ESCCRP, known colloquially as the “Mammoth Donut Project” is located on approximately 

58,000 acres of Inyo National Forest lands surrounding TOML in Mono County. Well over a 

century of anthropogenic influences have reshaped the forests across Sierra Nevada. 

Exacerbated further by climate change, our forests are primed for catastrophic change. ESCCRP 

will be implemented primarily in partnership with Inyo National Forest and the nonprofit 

organization Whitebark Institute, aiming to intercept the current trajectory of our shared 

Eastside forests before returning them to more historic densities—a critical step enabling 

ESCCRP’s joint coalition to resume using fire as a tool for forest health. This collaborative effort 

will work to make ESCCRP’s forested landscapes more resilient to anticipated future threats 

from climate change, including high severity fire, extended drought, mass beetle outbreaks, and 

changes in precipitation timing and amounts. Such actions will also work to reduce the risk in 

the Town of Mammoth Lakes (TOML) from catastrophic fire events and give emergency 

firefighting forces (e.g., Mammoth Lakes Fire Protection District, Mono County’s Office of 

Emergency Management) improved, longer-term tactical options as these life-saving entities 

have continued to encounter increasingly challenging and complex fire scenarios. Due to our 

high elevation and surroundings, TOML is increasingly susceptible to the impacts of climate 

change and natural hazards such as wildfires, severe winter weather or snow, and 

earthquake/seismic hazards. Enhanced resilience to natural hazards is considered a major 

priority. 

 

ESCCRP is intended to reduce the potential of severe wildfire and improve forest health and 

resilience around the TOML, the economic and recreation hub of Mono County. The project 

was originally conceived during a brainstorm that took place between a group of forward-

thinking land management leaders who were all carefully observing trends throughout fire 

seasons, fuels conditions, and local climate “anomalies" that when placed together side-by-



2 

 

side, began to paint a stark picture of the land management challenges to come in the 21st 

Century. Not coincidentally, in 2019 the Inyo National Forest completed their Forest Plan 

revision as one of the early adopters to the 2012 Planning Rule. This helps to explain why our 

proposed project aligns so closely with the new land management direction, having additionally 

gained context from former “lessons learned,” as ESCCRP is the second vegetation 

management project to be cultivated under the new Forest Plan. To put the significance of 

Mammoth Donut Project into tangible perspective, by 2037, the completed ESCCRP is expected 

to result in a near-fivefold increase in for fuel reduction projects and fuels generation, 

streamlining the vastly increased pace/scale of forestry-related activities being facilitated at 

several site locations. The Whitebark team conducted all necessary analyses and survey work 

contingent to completing NEPA within ESCCRP’s designated project areas, with a timber 

industry workforce that’s notably remained non-existent due to TOML’s rural location. TOML’s 

closest lumber mill is over 300 miles away, further exacerbated by a complete absence of 

biomass utilization facilities of any scale. This is partly because of how remote and sparsely 

settled Mono County is, its geography and climate alone can make living in TOML challenging 

and isolated.  

 

Summary information on the project tis attached. For more details on the ESCCRP project visit  

https://www.eswildfirealliance.org/esccrp2022  

 

Project Funding  

The Whitebark Institute has secured grants for initial environmental work and some initial fuels 

reduction projects. The Town has provided cash flow funding of $500,000 for the initial fuels 

reduction work in the TOML. The County has secured grants and other funding to do the 

predevelopment and initial engineering for a planned bioenergy plant of approximately 

$600,000. The Town has submitted applications for two grants to support the construction of a 

bioenergy plant.  

 

Town Grant Applications 

CA Gov. OPR - Regional Resilience Planning & Implementation Grant (RRPG) 

Program- $3 Million Grant for Bioenergy Plant Construction 

The successful implementation ESCCRP work program includes the development of a bioenergy 

facility to process woody biomass created from treatment processes required to reduce fuel 

loadings to reduce the risk of catastrophic wildfires. The partnership is working cooperatively 

with ORMAT Technologies to co-locate the proposed bioenergy plant with their existing 

Geothermal Power generation plant, with ORMAT providing the land necessary for the 

bioenergy plant. The environmental and predevelopment work is currently funded through a 

USFS Wood Innovations Grant ($299,889) and cooperator funding in the amount of $300,719. 

The proposed operator (West Biofuels, LLC) has a pending Federal DOE Grant Request for $10 

million under the Rural Community Bioenergy Facilities for Energy Resiliency and Forest Climate 

Adaptation program. The CAPEX for the West Biofuels bioenergy plant is $25.9MM.  It will be a 

3.6 MW (Gross), 3.0 MW (Net) power plant.  The $3,000,000 RRPG Grant request will be used 

to directly fund a portion of the CAPEX of bioenergy plant. The plant will employee 10+/- FTEs 

https://www.eswildfirealliance.org/esccrp2022


3 

 

when fully operational. The plant will be able to process the projected generated feedstock 

generated from the ESCCRP work program. 

 
CalFIRE Wood Products & Bioenergy Business and Workforce Development Grant 

$3,500,000 Grant for Bioenergy Plant Construction 

The project will provide relief surrounding key resource management concerns and climate-

related challenges by deploying forest biomass to a newly built energy conversion facility near 

the Town of Mammoth Lakes (TOML) servicing the Mono County region. Proposed systems 

ensure 100% renewable power provision throughout these remote regions to enhance energy 

supply resilience, mitigate catastrophic wildfire occurrence, and better support communities. 

The base grant amount is for $2,000,000, with a $1,500,000 million match, which depending on 

the project may be covered by the grant.  

 

Project Implementation Funding  

Whitebark Institute and a working group of partners have established a Financial Advisory 

Team (FAT), which includes staff representatives from the Town and County. The FAT is tasked 

with looking at the long-term funding needed to complete the fuels reduction and forest 

restoration project. Total project costs will be in the millions of dollars over the next several 

years. The FAT is working on a mix of funding strategies. This will likely include a substantial ask 

from the Town and County. The bioenergy plant is a key part of the overall program. The grant 

programs identified to date by the Town have focused on the bioenergy plant. We have not 

identified grant programs to fund the actual fuels removal work.  

 

Conclusion 

The Town and the County have and are taking steps to a more fire resilient landscape. This has 

included educational outreach, support for smaller projects on Town-owned land, defensible 

space clean up days, and coordination with Mammoth Lakes Fire Protection District on a 

chipping program of residential generated green waste. Ongoing efforts to support defensible 

space projects across the region are ongoing. Limited thinning projects and prescribed burns on 

the Inyo National Forest are also proceeding. The full implementation of the ESCCRP work plan 

will require significant and sustained funding. The level of cooperative or separate funding 

commitment will need to be part of the overall projected revenue need to support the program 

of work.  

 

 















 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

 MEETING DATE October 17, 2023 DEPARTMENT
ADDITIONAL
DEPARTMENTS
TIME REQUIRED 20 minutes PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Sandra Moberly, County
Administrative Officer; Dan Holler,
Town ManagerSUBJECT Update from Mono County and Town

of Mammoth Lakes Staff Regarding
Potential Housing Funding Sources

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Mono County and Mammoth Lakes Town staff will provide an update on the various funding sources for housing projects
and programs. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Receive presentation and provide comments as needed. 

FISCAL IMPACT:
None. 

CONTACT NAME: Sandra Moberly

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-932-5415 / smoberly@mono.ca.gov

SUBMIT THE ORIGINAL DOCUMENT WITH 
ATTACHMENTS TO THE OFFICE OF 

THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
PRIOR TO 5:00 P.M. ON THE FRIDAY 

32 DAYS PRECEDING THE BOARD MEETING

SEND COPIES TO:  

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Staff Report

 Attachment 1 - EIFD Primer

 Attachment 2 - Uses of EIFD Funds

 

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=30523&ItemID=16284

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=30524&ItemID=16284

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=30531&ItemID=16284


 History

 Time Who Approval
 10/12/2023 8:59 PM County Counsel Yes

 10/13/2023 8:39 AM Finance Yes

 10/13/2023 9:29 AM County Administrative Office Yes

 



JOINT MEETING 

TOWN COUNCIL AND MONO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

STAFF REPORT 

 

 

1 

 

Meeting Date: October 17, 2023 

 

To: Town Council and Mono County Board of Supervisors 

 

From: Daniel C. Holler, Town Manager 

 

RE: Overview of Funding Options for Housing and Fire Mitigation 

 

Overview 

Funding significant initiatives in the areas of housing and wildfire mitigation is a daunting task. 

The types of new revenues sources available to the Town and County are limited. The 

information presented below and in the attached materials focuses on the Enhanced 

Infrastructure Financing Districts (EIFD), which can be used to fund both housing and wildfire 

mitigation along with other projects. The other funding sources noted are traditional tax 

measures such as increased Transient Occupancy Tax (TOT) or sales tax.  

 

Enhanced Infrastructure Financing District (EIFD) 

EIFDs are Tax Increment Financing (TIF) which work by freezing the property tax revenues that 

flow from a designated project area to the city, county, and other taxing entity at the “base 

level” in the current year. Additional tax revenue in future years (the “increment”) is diverted 

into a separate pool of money, which can be used either to pay for improvements directly 

and/or to pay back bonds issued against the anticipated TIF revenue.  

 

EIFDs are a type of TIF district cities, counties and special districts may form to help fund 

economic development projects. Recent legislation has modified the parameters for EIFDs, and 

they can now fund a variety of projects including: modified SB 628 and EIFD requirements: 

Assembly Bill 733 (2017) allows for EIFDs to fund climate change adaptation projects, including 

but not limited to projects that address conditions that impact public health (such as decreased 

air and water quality, temperatures higher than average, etc.) and extreme weather events 

(such as sea level rise, heat waves, wildfires, etc.); Senate Bill 1145 (2018) allows EIFDs to also 

fund infrastructure maintenance costs; Assembly Bill 116 (2019) allows for EIFDs to issue bonds 

without public vote however does increase public engagement requirements; and Senate Bill 

852 (2022) further expands the use of EIFDs This bill would authorize a city, county, city and 

county, special district, or a combination of any of those entities to form a climate resilience 

district. A single district may be used to fund allowed projects under EIFD law. 

 

EIFDs do not increase property taxes, as they cannot pull property taxes from school districts. 

EIFDs are governed by a Public Financing Authority (PFA) made up of 5 members of at least 3 

elected officials and 2 local community members who live or work in the district area. The PFA 

oversees the creation of the District’s Infrastructure Financing Plan (IFP), which outlines the 

specific projects the District will fund. Additionally, while EIFDs are not required to set aside a 

specific percentage for affordable housing, all housing that is developed must be affordable, 



2 

 

with income limits up to 120% of AMI. Additional information on the formation of EIFDs is 

attached. 

 

Sample Use of EIFD 

The Town has reviewed how an EIFD (District) may be structured to provide funding for priority 

investments. For example, if the Limelight Hotel site was part of an EIFD, the increased tax 

increment would be available to fund approved projects. Using an estimated construction value 

of $50 million and using a negotiated 50% of incremental tax revenue allocated to the Town 

and County, an estimated $100,000 would be available to the district the first year and has the 

potential grow over time based on additional improvements and base increase in value. The 

actual amount is dependent upon negotiated revenue allocations. The flexibility of the EIFD 

process may also consider the allocation of a higher percentage of revenues early in the process 

with a declining percentage moving forward.  

 

 
 

The flexibility in creating and using an EIFD is substantial. The revenue stream from the district 

may be bonded or used annually to fund projects. The revenue stream is negotiated by the 

participating agencies. The boundary areas of an EIFD do not need to be contiguous, and an 

EIFD may fund facilities and improvements outside of its boundaries. The projects funded do 

need to provide a benefit to the District. The revenues can grow over time with increased 

values and new development. As in the above example, the amount of new tax revenue 

allocated to the District is negotiated by the participating agencies.  

 

Rather than creating an EIFD, the Town and County could agree to annually allocate a 

percentage of increased property tax revenues from new development to be used for common 

priority projects. The funds would likely not be eligible for issuing bonds (debt) to support 

projects and may have some limitations based on types and location of projects being eligible 

expenditures for each independent agency. 

 

Voter Approved Tax Measures 

Each agency may also put forward a specific tax measure to generate additional revenues to be 

used for eligible projects as defined by the measure. This may be pursued as an advisory vote 

needing a simple majority of votes and may be used for general purposes. A special tax may be 

considered as well. This would be more defined and limited to only the uses approved by 

voters. This special tax needs to be approved by two-thirds of the voters. Examples in the Town 

of a general tax include the previous increases in Transient Occupancy Tax rates. As special tax 

example is the 0.05 cent transaction and use tax (sales tax) approved under Measure R for 

specific recreational purposes. Other tax measures may be considered such as a parcel tax.  

New Dev. Assessed Value $50,000,000
1% Property Tax Rate $500,000
Increment (40%) to Town & County $200,000
50% to EIFD $100,000
County - 82.5% $85,000
Town - 17.5% $15,000



3 

 

Dynamic Challenges in Funding Housing and Fire Mitigation Programs 

The policy question before the Town Council and Board of Supervisors is whether the two 

bodies desire to pursue joint revenue streams to meet the substantial financial commitments 

required to meet workforce housing needs. The subsidy levels required to provide workforce 

housing are increasing due to higher interest rates, construction costs and economic changes 

that have limited the number of full-time rental units. The needs in the community are 

significant and the challenges are varied with dynamic changes in the workforce and new 

options being pursued for lower cost living alternatives.  

 

Secondly, the same financial question is presented in addressing the threat of catastrophic 

wildland fires in the region. The Town and County have experienced direct impacts from 

catastrophic fires and associated smoke impacts. The Eastern Sierra Climate Communities 

Resilience Project (ESCCRP) project highlights the need for partnerships and the cost associated 

with addressing a significant wildfire threat on the Inyo National Forest. The pace and scale of 

the project is substantial but will not become a reality without a sustainable funding structure.  

 

The funding options available to the Town and County to address housing and wildfire threats 

are limited. The choices are difficult and require balancing these needs with other community 

priorities. We have also experienced the financial impacts from emergency response efforts 

such as 2023 Winter Emergency and the COVID-19 Emergency. Pursuing new revenue sources 

for these programs requires additional staff time and other resources as well. Staff is looking for 

definitive direction on whether there is a commitment on behalf of the elected bodies to 

consider additional revenue options jointly and seriously. The alternative is to continue to use 

local policies, regulatory changes, and existing revenue sources to meet near term needs as 

outlined in the staff presentations. Each agency will continue to coordinate mutually beneficial 

projects and to pursue state, federal or other grant programs.  

 

Attachment 1 – EIFD Primer 























92150 River Plaza Drive, Suite 275, Sacramento, CA 95833

Overview
A number of different types of infrastructure districts have recently 
been approved by the California Legislature, the most prominent 
of which was the creation of Enhanced Infrastructure Financing 
Districts (EIFDs), authorized by State legislation enacted by SB 
628 in 2014, and since amended by multiple other bills, including 
SB 780 of 2021. The statutory framework for EIFDs is found in 
Government Code §53398.50, et seq.

Eligible Projects 
Traditional Uses:
EIFDs are empowered to provide financing for a broad range of 
infrastructure work, including traditional public works such as:
• roads and highways 

• bridges 

• parking facilities 

• transit stations

• sewage and water facilities

• solid waste disposal

• port and harbor projects

• parks

• libraries 

• childcare facilities 

•  flood control 
and drainage projects

Other Uses:
EIFDs may also finance a broader range of public uses for economic 
development purposes, including but not limited to:

•  brownfield restoration and environmental mitigation 

•  military base reuse projects

•  affordable housing

•  mixed income residential and mixed-use projects 

•  private industrial buildings 

•  transit oriented development projects

•  projects carrying out a sustainable  
communities strategy

•  commercial structures for purposes of fostering small business 
COVID-19 recovery

•  facilities for health, youth, homeless and social services

•  remediation of contaminated property through the Polanco 
Redevelopment Act

Other capital projects with a useful life of at least 15 years are  also 
eligible. The financed projects do not need to be located within the 
EIFD boundaries but must have a "tangible connection" to the district. 

Eligible Costs: 
An EIFD may finance a variety of activities, including: 

1. The purchase, construction, expansion, improvement, seismic 
retrofit, or rehabilitation of any real or other tangible property 
with an estimated useful life of 15 years or longer of public 
capital facilities or other specified projects of communitywide 
significance that provide significant benefits to the district or 
the surrounding community. The facilities are not required 
to be physically located within the boundaries of the district. 
However, any facilities financed outside of a district shall have a 
tangible connection to the work of the district.

2. Planning and design work directly related to the purchase, 
construction, expansion, or rehabilitation of property.

3. Ongoing or capitalized costs to maintain public capital facilities 
financed in whole or in part by the district; however, bond proceeds 
may not be used for this purpose. A district shall not finance the 
costs of an ongoing operation or providing services of any kind.

4. Replacement of dwelling units occupied by very low-, low-, or 
moderate-income households removed or destroyed by district-
related activities.

(See Sec. 53398.52 for more details)

chapter 2
Enhanced Infrastructure 
Financing Districts (EIFDs)



 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

 MEETING DATE October 17, 2023 DEPARTMENT
ADDITIONAL
DEPARTMENTS
TIME REQUIRED 30 minutes PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Sandra Moberly, County
Administrative Officer; Dan Holler,
Town ManagerSUBJECT Update from Mono County and Town

of Mammoth Lakes Staff Regarding
After Action Reports

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Opportunity for County and Town staff to provide an update on the after action reports related to the 2023 Snow
Emergency. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Receive presentations and ask questions as needed. 

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

CONTACT NAME: Sandra Moberly

PHONE/EMAIL: 760-932-5415 / smoberly@mono.ca.gov

SUBMIT THE ORIGINAL DOCUMENT WITH 
ATTACHMENTS TO THE OFFICE OF 

THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
PRIOR TO 5:00 P.M. ON THE FRIDAY 

32 DAYS PRECEDING THE BOARD MEETING

SEND COPIES TO:  

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 County Staff Report

 Town Staff Report

 History

 

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=30517&ItemID=16280

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=30513&ItemID=16280


 Time Who Approval
 10/12/2023 5:54 PM County Counsel Yes

 10/13/2023 8:38 AM Finance Yes

 10/13/2023 9:30 AM County Administrative Office Yes

 



BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

CHAIR 
Rhonda Duggan / District 2 

VICE CHAIR 
John Peters / District 4 

Bob Gardner / District 3    
Lynda Salcido / District 5 
Jennifer Kreitz / District 1 
 

COUNTY DEPARTMENTS 

ASSESSOR 
Hon. Barry Beck 

DISTRICT ATTORNEY 
Hon. David Anderson 

SHERIFF / CORONER 
Hon. Ingrid Braun 

ANIMAL SERVICES 
Chris Mokracek “Interim” 

BEHAVIORAL HEALTH 
Robin Roberts 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
Wendy Sugimura 

COUNTY CLERK-RECORDER 
Queenie Barnard 

COUNTY COUNSEL 
Stacey Simon, Esq. 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
Jeff Simpson 

EMERGENCY MEDICAL 
SERVICES 
Bryan Bullock 

FINANCE 
Janet Dutcher 
CPA, CGFM, MPA 

HEALTH AND HUMAN 
SERVICES 

Kathryn Peterson 

INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGY 
Mike Martinez 

PROBATION 
Karin Humiston 

PUBLIC WORKS 
Paul Roten 

 

 

COUNTY ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 
COUNTY OF MONO 

Sandra Moberly, MPA, AICP 
PO Box 696 

Bridgeport, CA 93517-0696 
(760) 932-5410 

smoberly@mono.ca.gov 
www.mono.ca.gov 

 
 

 To: Mono County Board of Supervisors and Mammoth Lakes Town Council 

From: Sandra Moberly, Mono County Administrative Officer 

Date: October 17, 2023 

Re:  Mono County After Action Report Update  

Strategic Plan Focus Area(s) Met 

 A Thriving Economy     Safe and Healthy Communities    Mandated Function 

 Sustainable Public Lands      Workforce & Operational Excellence 

Discussion 

In early January 2023, and again in February, Mono County experienced several large 
storms which brought blizzard conditions, dropping historic amounts of snow throughout 
the County. The most recent series of extreme winter storms began near the end of 
February and continued through the beginning of April 2023.  
 
These storms were powerful and quickly overwhelmed the resources of governmental 
entities within Mono County. The February storms resulted in multi-day road closures of 
the state highways in Mono County, preventing the delivery of groceries, propane, 
medications, and other goods. Many travelers were stranded and required assistance from 
the Mono County Sheriff’s Office, and other local agencies.  
 
The 2023 Snow Emergency tested the County’s resources and emergency response 
capacity. As the County emerged from the winter conditions, staff began to work on 
recovery and preparedness for the next emergency. Over the past several months the 
Office of Emergency Management has provided emergency preparedness information to 
residents and businesses, reached out to the community through a survey to determine 
community satisfaction with emergency response, and has begun working on an after 
action/corrective action report.  
 
The Mono County Emergency Operations Plan as well as CAL OES require that the 
County prepare an after-action/corrective action report (Report) upon the cessation of an 
emergency. The Report allows the County to examine the emergency operations and 
work to improve the provision of services for future emergency response. The Report is 
intended to: 
 
• Provide a source for documenting response and early recovery activities, 



Page 2 of 2 
October 17, 2023 

• Identify problems and successes during emergency operations. 
• Analyze the effectiveness of the different components of the Standardized Emergency Management 
System (SEMS). 
• Describe and define a plan of corrective action for implementing recommended improvements to 

existing emergency response efforts. 
 
The Mono County Office of Emergency Management is currently preparing the Mono County after-action 
report and will provide an update to the Board on November 7. The Report will be completed and submitted to 
the State by the end of the year. The report will cover the incident background, how the County and partner 
agencies responded to the incident, recovery activities, strengths and successes, areas needing improvement, 
and will include an improvement plan.  
 
This work effort will require collaboration with other partner agencies including the Town, fire districts, utility 
providers, as well as state and federal agencies.  
  



JOINT MEETING 

TOWN COUNCIL AND MONO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

STAFF REPORT 

 

 

1 

 

Meeting Date: October 17, 2023 

 

To: Town Council and Mono County Board of Supervisors 

 

From: Daniel C. Holler, Town Manager 

 

RE: Winter 2023 Storm Emergency After Action Report 

 

Overview 

The Town has entered into an agreement with the firm Constant Associates, Inc. to provide a detailed 

Incident After Action Report (AAR) for the Town of Mammoth Lakes regarding the Winter 2023 Storm 

Emergency (Incident) and emergency response. The Town has allocated $75,000 for this work. The 

purpose of undertaking this report is to enhance and improve the Town’s overall emergency planning, 

preparation and implementation of emergency response and recovery actions. This includes ongoing 

learning from such events as the Winter 2023 Storm Emergency. The amount of time required to review 

the Incident documentation, interview those engaged in the response, and recovery actions is 

substantial and beyond the capacity of staff to complete. The outcome of the review will provide 

instructive information on significant strengths of the Town in responding to the Incident and recovery 

efforts and significant areas for improvement as we look forward to being better prepared for future 

emergencies. 

 

The effort of local and state agencies to respond to this overall emergency, specific events, disastrous 

situations, and impacts on communities and individuals cannot be understated. The actions taken by 

numerous individuals and organizations resulted in life saving actions and continuity of governmental 

services and business operations. The level of actions taken to maintain the safety of residents and 

visitors within the Town and region were monumental and we owe those engaged in the emergency 

response our gratitude and thanks. This includes hundreds of residents and businesses, agencies at all 

levels of government, our first responders, and the management team that worked tirelessly through 

this emergency.  

 

Work Program 

The Winter 2023 Storm Emergency) was unique and more complicated than other local emergencies. 

This was reflected in the development of the Incident over time, transitioning from rain to snow to 

flooding. The incorporation of two counties as the Incident area (Mono and Inyo) was unique under the 

State system. The scope of the emergency was also challenging with the bifurcation and isolation of 

communities due to road closures. The process used in the establishment of the Incident Management 

Team (IMT) and unified command will be reviewed. From the Town’s perspective, this was not a smooth 

transition. The follow up use of the State Resources to support the local IMT versus having the State 

take operational control over the Incident was also confusing. The process of establishing and setting up 

the IMT was largely outside of the Town’s purview or engagement, however the Town was asked to 

support the IMT with staff and Mammoth Lakes Fire Protection District was also engaged to support the 

IMT. One element of the AAR will be to review documentation of the process associated with the 

establishment and operation of the IMT to determine how the process could be more efficient in the 

future.  

 



2 

 

The initial work will be focused on data collection and review (i.e., Incident Action Plans, situation 

reports, resource requests, incident logs, memos, reports etc.). The AAR will incorporate community 

surveys (including review of the one conducted by Mono County), and use of debriefings and surveys of 

individuals and small groups engaged in the response and recovery efforts. At this time, most of this 

work will focus on the Town of Mammoth Lakes but will necessitate reaching out to other partner 

agencies and individuals. The AAR will provide information on the overall Incident, analysis and findings 

and recommendations. The detailed subject areas of the final AAR will be refined in the process, which 

may include the following topics: 

• Preparedness,  

• Emergency Protocols,  

• Incident Management,  

• Coordination and Communication,  

• Public Information, Emergency Alerts and Warnings,  

• Community Impacts,  

• Continuity of Operations,  

• Financial Recovery, 

• and other identified areas appropriate. 

 

The report will note significant agency strengths in the emergency response and areas for improvement, 

as noted above, as well as any long-term concerns and other conclusions.  

 

The work program is anticipated to extend over the next 4 to 6 months. The draft AAR will be presented 

to the key group of stakeholders for a facilitated discussion. Based on the feedback and the iterative 

review process, a final report will be prepared and presented to the community. Completion of the final 

report may take additional time. The term of the agreement is nine months to ensure adequate time to 

complete this process.  

 

The findings and recommendations will provide the Town and partner agencies with recommendations 

to improve operational plans, guide training efforts, enhance strengths and address weaknesses. The 

Town believes that having the information identified in the AAR will enhance our ability to plan for 

future emergency response capabilities regardless of the type of emergency.  

 

Conclusion 

The 2023 Winter Storm event challenged local and state agencies across the Eastern Sierra region and 

beyond. the Town and other agencies, the recovery process is ongoing as we repair damaged 

infrastructure and equipment, review operational plans, and seek reimbursement for the costs of this 

emergency.  

 

The Town of Mammoth Lakes believes that the development of the Incident AAR will serve as a tool to 

allow us to learn from this Incident and improve future emergency response and recovery efforts within 

the Town of Mammoth Lakes and the region. While the proposed project scope and contract with 

Constant Associates, Inc. is currently only proposed to include the Town of Mammoth Lakes, we believe 

that there would be great value in having Mono County participate in this process as well. The Mono 

County Office of Emergency Management is situated to assist in responding to all emergencies within 

the County, including emergencies within the Town of Mammoth Lakes. The Town has reached out to 

Mammoth Lakes Fire Protection District Chief Tomaier to participate in this process as well. Interagency 



3 

 

cooperation is critical due to our remote location, limited staff, and difficulty getting timely mutual aid 

resources. 

 

The agreement with Constant Associates, Inc. may be amended to incorporate a larger role with Mono 

County if the County desires. The costs will need to be adjusted accordingly as will some of the 

deliverables, which currently are Town focused. It is anticipated that the findings and recommendations 

in the report will be applicable beyond the Town of Mammoth Lakes. A copy of the scope of services 

under the contract is attached for refence.  

 

 


	Meeting Agenda
	#2A - Update from Mono County and Town of Mammoth Lakes Staff Regarding Housing Programs and Projects
	#2B - Update on the Eastern Sierra Climate and Communities Resilience Project (ESCCRP) (Mammoth Donut)
	#2C - Update from Mono County and Town of Mammoth Lakes Staff Regarding Potential Housing Funding Sources
	#2D - Update from Mono County and Town of Mammoth Lakes Staff Regarding After Action Reports



